Supreme Court No. <u>136</u>65.0

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# No. 72758-3-I (Cons. 72759-1-I) WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE

# JANELL BOONE, as Personal Representative of THE ESTATE OF RANDAL J. LANGELAND,

Petitioner,

v.

SHARON DROWN,

Respondent

# **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Corrected

Gregory M. Miller, WSBA 14459 Michael B. King, WSBA 14405

03

CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 P: (206) 622-8020 <u>miller@carneylaw.com</u> <u>king@carneylaw.com</u>

Counsel for Petitioner Janell Boone

# **

### **I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner Janell Boone, daughter of the deceased Randall Langeland, seeks review of the decision referenced in Section II.

# **II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Division One decided *In re Estate of Langeland*, \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_\_, 2016 WL 3919687 (2016) ("*Langeland II*") (App. A), after remand from *In re Estate of Langeland*, 177 Wn. App. 315, 312 P.3d 657 (2013), *rev. den.*, 180 Wn.2d 1009 (2014) ("*Langeland I*"). A timely motion for reconsideration was denied on August 12, 2016. App. B. Petitioner seeks review and reversal of *Langeland II* and the trial court's remand decision because they ignore the parties' agreements and actions and create a common law marriage out of the committed intimate relationship ("CIR") Respondent Sharon Drown had with Boone's father, contrary to long-standing Washington law and policy and to Mr. Langeland's intent and decisions for 18 years.

# **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 1. May Washington courts make a property distribution following the end of a committed intimate relationship that equates with common law marriage, when common law marriages have been prohibited as a matter of settled public policy since Territorial days?
- 2. This Court carefully established specific rules for distribution of property following committed intimate relationships which distinguish CIRs from marriage. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the decision on remand that violated those rules by denying the deceased his separate share of the community-like property at death, contrary to the rules of property distribution for CIRs and to *Olver v. Fowler*?

- 3. Must the Court of Appeals decision in *Langeland II* and the superior court's remand ruling be vacated because they conflict with this Court's decision in *Olver v. Fowler* and the Court's line of cases on CIRs, and the trial court's initial ruling from the 2011 trial reinstated because it is consistent with those cases and their principles?
- 4. Does the evidence in this case as reflected in Findings of Fact 7-9 and 18, which includes writings and also 19 years of actions, satisfy the "direct and positive evidence" test for demonstrating a change in, or agreement on, the separate nature of the earnings and property acquired during this CIR, as then-Justice Madsen's concurrence stated could serve to rebut an initial presumption of property's character in *Estate* of Borghi consistent with Deschamps' Estate?<sup>1</sup>
- 5. May Washington's trial or appellate courts create a common law marriage equivalent and thereby frustrate the clearly stated and acted-on intent of a person determined to not engage in marriage but to live in a CIR in which both parties, on a daily basis for 18 years, by actions and written agreements, agreed that their earnings were to be treated as separate, not community-like?
- 6. Even assuming all the contested Estate property was subject to division despite the rule of *Olver v. Fowler* that the Estate should receive the deceased's 50% share as separate property, must the case be remanded because it is undisputed the trial court did not have or consider all the assets of the CIR when making its division since it is undisputed the extensive financial assets listed in Respondent's name in Ex. 27 in answer to interrogatory 8 were not valued or addressed by the trial court, making any "equitable division" of all the community-like property acquired during the CIR *in*equitable for failing to include Respondent's portion?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In re Estate of Borghi, 167 Wn.2d 480, 491-92, 219 P.3d 932 (2009); In re Deschamps' Estate, 77 Wash. 514, 137 Pac. 1009 (1914).

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. Overview.

Petitioner Janell Boone is the daughter and sole heir following her father's death intestate; if she could not receive, her children–Randy Langeland's two grandchildren—would. There are family interests at stake. Randy Langeland never married nor entered into a registered domestic partnership with Respondent Sharon Drown who, therefore, has no intestate right to any of Randy's property. Nevertheless, Drown has sought from the beginning to seize Randy's entire estate to the extent she could, even claiming an "intestate share" in her creditor's claim.

In a decision that contravenes Washington State and Territorial policy, Division One has sanctioned granting Drown the right consistently denied unmarried persons since Territorial days and throughout Washington's history – the right of a deceased spouse to succeed to all of her partner's property while also keeping all of her own. Whatever the Court may think of the disputants, this result is contrary to longstanding Washington law on unmarried couples and their property division at the end of their relationship – here by death. This Court has consistently been a bulwark against tearing down these established rules, even for a sympathetic case. It is asked to be so again in this case.

#### **B.** Procedural Posture.

#### 1. Creditor's claim in probate and 2011 trial.

This case began with the May 2009 filing of Drown's creditor's claim five months after Randy Langeland's death. CP 522-23, App. C. Drown asserted a claim "likely to exceed[] \$500,000," which was the outside reach of all of Randy Langeland's assets assuming the maximum amount of separate property being in his estate. Though admitting she was not married to Langeland, Drown nevertheless asserted she was "an intestate heir of the estate" despite the settled Washington law that a surviving partner in a CIR is *not* an heir of the deceased.<sup>2</sup> Drown stated her intent to obtain *every penny* in Mr. Langeland's probate proceeding by one mechanism or another, not leaving a cent for his surviving family members: his mother Agnes; his only child and heir at law, Janell; and his grandchildren, Jacob and Kristin, then 17 and 13 respectively.

After discovery and an effort by Drown to have a jury trial in the probate matter, the case went to trial in May 2011. The trial court found substantially for Janell, including the following findings of fact and conclusion of law related to the nature of the property acquired during the CIR:

7. Decedent and Sharon Drown maintained separate bank accounts at all times.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Langeland I, 177 Wn.App. at 330 fn. 43, citing *Peffley-Warner v. Bowen*, 113 Wn.2d 243, 253, 778 P.2d 1022 (1989).

8. Decedent and Sharon Drown did not comingle assets, except for 3 checks totaling \$6,650 described in Exhibit 29 which Sharon Drown deposited in decedent's account by accident.

9. Decedent and Sharon Drown maintained the separate character of all property except property which was intentionally purchased jointly as described in the Estate Inventory and Appraisement.

# #

#

#

18. The parties received their earnings in their own name; they scrupulously deposited their own earnings into their own accounts titled in their own names; they carefully did not jointly acquire any assets of significance; they meticulously divided, to the penny, all expenses equally; and decedent did not add Sharon Drown to any of his bank accounts; and only allowed her to acquire an interest in the residence by making payments with interest as provided in Exhibit 30. Decedent did not marry Sharon Drown nor did he execute a will in her favor.

CP 1288-90, App. G. The trial court then concluded as follows:

Conclusions of Law

# #

8. Any claim that decedent intended or did jointly acquire assets with Sharon Drown that were titled in his own name through the use of his own income or assets exclusively is substantially rebutted by his careful and meticulous conduct described in Finding 18.

CP 1291, App. G-5. The trial court disallowed Drown's creditor's

claim and denied her challenge to the inventory of the Estate. Id.

#### 2. Langeland I.

Drown appealed, resulting in *Langeland I*. The focus of the appeal was the alleged prejudice to Drown of the trial court giving

effect to a presumption of correctness to the Estate inventory and that it incorrectly shifted the burden to Drown to prove that the property acquired during the CIR was community-like rather than separate. See Langeland I, 177 Wn. App. at 326-27. Division I held that "the presumption that property acquired during an intimate committed relationship is jointly owned prevails over the presumption of correctness for an estate inventory," and that the "trial court's failure to apply this presumption prejudiced Drown." Id. at 327. Lanageland I then segued into a discussion of property division in the CIR context and held that since the trial court "received no evidence tracing any of these three [principle] assets to funds owned by Langeland before his relationship with Drown began or acquired by gift or inheritance afterward," Janell had failed to overcome the presumption of joint property as to the three main assets. Id. But given the now-changed legal landscape, Langeland I did not explicitly address whether the extensive direct and positive evidence of the parties' treating their earned income as separate during the CIR, reflected both in writings and in their actions as detailed *infra*, either did or could overcome that presumption. Nor did it rule that it could not.