RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Nov 10, 2016, 1:25 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT NO. 93665-0

(Court of Appeals, Div. I, No. 72758-3-I)
(Whatcom County Court Case No. 09-4-00039-9)

In Re the Estate of: RANDALL J. LANGELAND, Deceased.

Deceased

JANELL BOONE, as Personal Representative,

vs.

SHARON DROWN, Respondent.

RESPONDENT DROWN'S ANSWER TO BOONE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Douglas R. Shepherd Bethany C. Allen Shepherd and Allen 2011 Young Street, Ste 202 Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 733-3773

November 10, 2016

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I – INTRODUCTION1
II - IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT
III - RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
IV - RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE4
V – ARGUMENT9
1. Boone has raised no issue allowing for review9
2. The character of the assets was the issue at trial10
3. There was no separate property agreement12
4. Langeland I and Langeland II correctly decided and Instructed Judge Uhrig to do equity on remand14
5. Findings of Fact 6, 7, 8, 9 and 18 were not ignored by Drown in <i>Langeland I</i> , and as they no longer exist in the Amended Findings, they are clearly vacated
6. There is no substantial public interest in Boone's continued argument regarding how to achieve equity in this case
7. Helsell Fetterman's conditional review should also be Denied
VI – REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY FEES AND EXPENSES19
VII – CONCLUSION 20

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u>

Washington State Supreme Court
Olver v. Fowler, 161 Wn.2d 655, 168 P.3d 348 (2007) 15, 16
Peffely-Warner v. Bowen, 113 Wn.2d 243, 778 P.2d 1022 (1989)15, 16
Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 123 P.2d 844 (2005)13
Washington State Court of Appeals
Alaska Structures, Inc. v. Hedlund, 180 Wn.App. 591, 323 P.3d 1082 (Div. 1, 2014); rev. denied 184 Wn.2d 1026 (2016)
In re Estate of Frank, 146 Wn.App. 309, 327, 189 P.3d 834 (Div. 2, 2008)20
In re Estate of Langeland, 177 Wn.App. 315, 312 P.3d 657 (Div. 1, 2013) rev. denied 180 Wn.2d 1009 (2014)
Matter of Estate of Langeland v. Drown, 195 Wn.App 74, 360 P.3d 573 (Div. 1, 2016)
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 11.96A.15019
PCW 11 964 150(1) 20

Rules and Regulations

RAP 10.3(a)(5)4
RAP 10.3(a)(6)
RAP 12.82
RAP 13.4
RAP 13.4(b)(4)2
RAP 18.1(j)19
RAP 18.9
<u>Appendices</u>
Petition for Review, COA 67255-0-I, Langeland I, (relevant portions)Appendix A
Boone's Motion Objecting to Supersedeas Decisions COA 67255-0-I, <i>Langeland I</i> , (relevant portions)Appendix B
Notation Ruling, COA 67255-0-I, Langeland I,Appendix C
Appellant Drown's Appeal Brief, COA 67255-0-I Langeland I, (relevant portions)Appendix D

I - INTRODUCTION

In 1998, Randall Langeland (Langeland) began suffering from untreatable medical conditions. Sharon Drown (Drown), Langeland's committed intimate partner, functioned as his primary caregiver from 2003 until his death in 2009. She assisted him with all his business and personal affairs, cared for his personal hygiene needs and administered his daily medications. She continued to work full time to provide insurance to cover his substantial medical bills. CP 1697; FF 42. *In re Estate of Langeland,* 177 Wn.App. 315, 312 P.3d 657 (Div. 1, 2013) *rev. denied* 180 Wn.2d 1009 (2014) (*Langeland I*). While working full time and providing years of care, Drown continued to manage the committed partners' software business and maintain their home and sailboat. CP 1696; FF 36, 37, and 38. *Matter of Estate of Langeland V. Drown,* 195 Wn.App 74, 360 P.3d 573 (Div. 1, 2016) (*Langeland II*).

On remand from *Langeland I*, Judge Uhrig awarded estate joint property to Drown, and consistent with the appellate court's decision, entered an order vacating the \$70,000 attorney fees award against her. CP 1677; CP 217. On October 2, 2014, Drown discovered that on August 24, 2011, \$101,498.82 was paid by the

Clerk of Whatcom County Superior Court to Helsell Fetterman. CP 97-8, 106. Upon receipt of these funds, neither Helsell Fetterman nor Boone satisfied any portion of the \$70,000.00 judgment entered on Boone's attorney fees. CP 1580.

Judge Uhrig, however, declined to order either Boone or Helsell Fetterman to repay the funds Helsell Fetterman had wrongfully withdrawn from the court registry. CP 119; CP 131; CP 134; CP 141. In *Langeland II*, Drown asked the Court of Appeals to remand again with instructions to enter judgment against Boone and Helsell Fetterman. In *Langeland II*, the Court of Appeals determined it was unfair to allow Boone and her counsel to keep Drown's funds or assets, and that restitution was the proper remedy. *Matter of Estate of Langeland*, 195 Wn.App. 74, 81-82, 93-94.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), Boone and Helsell Fetterman seek review of the restitution remedy ordered in *Langeland II*.¹ Boone seeks review without reference to relevant parts of the records or

¹ "If a party has voluntarily or involuntarily partially or wholly satisfied a trial court decision which is modified by the appellate court, the trial court **shall** enter order and authorize the issuance of process appropriate to restore to the party any property taken from that party, the value of the property, or in appropriate circumstances, provide restitution. . ." RAP 12.8. (Emphasis added.)

citations to any legal authority. RAP 10.3(a)(6). Furthermore, she makes no attempt to explain the substantial public interest involved.

The Court should deny Boone's Petition for Review.

II - IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Drown is the respondent to this Petition for Review. Drown was the respondent/cross Appellant in *Langeland* II.

III – RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals' ruling in *Langeland II* is consistent with Supreme Court precedent regarding the equitable distribution of joint property acquired during a committed intimate relationship (CIR). [Yes.]
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals' ruling in *Langeland II* is consistent with its decision in *Langeland I*, which is the law of the case. [Yes.]
- 3. Whether all issues raised in *Langeland II*, except restitution, were decided in *Langeland I*. [Yes.]
- 4. Whether equity prohibits the restitution remedy ordered by the Court of Appeals in *Langeland II.* [No.]

5. Whether there is any statutory or common law in Washington which would allow Boone or Helsell Fetterman to wrongfully keep money belonging to Drown. [No.]

IV - RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

The 2011 trial involved competing claims to assets of the Estate of Randall J. Langeland. Boone claimed, successfully before the trial court and unsuccessfully before Division I of the Court of Appeals, that her father's probate assets were his separate property. CP 848-66.² Drown, the woman with whom Langeland lived and shared a committed intimate relationship from 1991 until his death in 2009, claimed certain probate assets were joint property. CP 906-11.

In *Langeland I*, the Court of Appeals found disputed probate assets were joint property requiring an equitable distribution upon remand. *Estate of Langeland*, 177 Wn.App. at 327.

Boone's Petition does not provide a fair statement of the case, without argument. RAP 10.3(a)(5). Boone's statement

² "Trial should be set to determine which assets, if any, were 'jointly acquired' by decedent and Sharon Drown during their CIR and (ii) the respective interest that the Estate and Sharon Drown have in each such asset. . . . Mr Langeland and Ms. Drown were exceedingly careful to split all expenses equally. . . . Mr. Langeland and Ms. Drown then entered into a written agreement . . ." **Boone Trial Brief**, CP 849, 851, 852. (Emphasis added.)

contains argument throughout. Without reference to the record, Boone <u>simply argues</u>:

Drown has sought from the beginning to seize Randy's entire estate to the extent she could . . . Drown stated her intent to obtain *every penny* in Mr. Langeland's probate proceeding by one mechanism or another, not leaving a cent for his surviving family members: . . . It was not until the 2013 ruling in *Langeland I* that, *for the first time in the case*, the issue of whether all assets were jointly acquired was raised; There had been no reason to argue the contract theory where all parties agreed as to what were and were not jointly held assets and the separate nature of their earnings during the CIR.

Boone Petition for Review (corrected), at 3, 4, 7, and 9. This argument and these issues are found in Boone's Petition for Review in Langeland I, the first appeal.³ Boone was not successful.

As a matter of law, Boone failed to overcome the joint property presumption with respect to all three contested probate assets. . . [A] determination that the contested probate assets were jointly owned does not require that the trial court divide them equally between Drown and Boone. The three-part analysis adopted in Connell requires that the trial court determine what property is subject to division and make a fair and equitable division based upon the factors identified in the court's opinion. . . . Because the court

[&]quot;During the trial the Court limited her (Drown's) claims against the Estate with regard to the issues of . . . the status of estate assets as either jointly or individually acquired Mr. Langeland and Ms. Drown had an agreement which prevented the accumulation of any jointly owned assets." Boone's Petition for Review, Langeland I, at 9-16. (Emphasis added.) See Appendix A. .

failed to apply the correct presumption to property acquired during the Langeland/Drown committed intimate relationship, we reverse and remand to the trial court to reconsider the proper distribution of the jointly acquired assets and the issue of attorney fees.

Estate of Langeland, 177 Wn.App. at 327, 329. (Emphasis added.)

In *Langeland I*, the Court of Appeals and Judge Uhrig on remand, determined the 36 foot Catalina sailboat, the house and the software company were joint property. CP 1695; FF 25, 29, and 33. Judge Uhrig awarded the Estate's joint interest in the sailboat to Boone and Drown's interest in the sailboat to Drown. Judge Uhrig awarded the committed partners' joint interest in the home and business to Drown. The value of the joint property, subject to probate, awarded to Drown was \$155,125.00. The value of the joint property, subject to probate, awarded to Boone was \$9,628.74. CP 1696-98.

Not at issue in either appeal were non-probate assets of \$4,200.00 that went to Boone and \$176,500.00 that went to Langeland's mother. CP 1697-98; FF 44, 45.

Boone's Petition does not discuss the following:

Although the trial court awarded most of the estate assets to Drown on remand and vacated its \$70,000 attorney fee award against her, it declined to order that

Boone's counsel, Helsell Fetterman LLP, repay the funds it withdrew from the court registry to pay this award. Drown cross appeals asking this court to remand for the trial court to enter judgment against Boone and her counsel, Helsell Fetterman. . . . [I]t would be inequitable to allow Helsell Fetterman to keep Drown's supersedeas funds of the assets the trial court determined belong to Drown . . . Allowing Helsell Fetterman to keep those fund would deny Drown the practical benefit of her successful appeal and cause her to pay her unsuccessful opposing party's legal expenses. . . . Restitution is meant to remedy just this type of unfairness.

Matter of Estate of Langeland, 195 Wn.App. at 74, 81-82, 93-94.

Drown discovered in 2014 that Helsell Fetterman withdrew \$101,498.82 from the registry of the Court more than three years earlier. CP 97-8, 106. Upon receipt of these funds, neither Helsell Fetterman nor Boone satisfied any portion of the \$70,000.00 judgment entered on Boone's attorney fees. CP 1580. On May 7, 2012, eight (8) months after Helsell Fetterman received the funds from the Clerk of the Court, Boone, in *Langeland I*, through counsel, objected to the trial court's supersedeas decision. Boone admitted and complained the supersedeas decision stayed all Orders except the Judgment on attorney fees. See Appendix B attached hereto.

The Findings, Conclusions and Order entered on May 26, 2011 (CP 48-53) and the **Order Granting Motion for**

Attorney's Fees and Costs; Granting Non-Intervention Powers; and Granting Other Post Trial Motions, entered on August 12, 2011 (Addendum C) concern the sale of estate real property, the payment of \$70,000 in attorneys fees and otherwise dealt with the separate and community tangible personal property and numerous issues pertaining to the administration of the estate.

Appendix B, at 2-3. (Emphasis added). In *Langeland I*, Boone argued that it was unfair for Judge Uhrig "to stay the enforcement of all of these orders . . ." *Id.* (Emphasis added.) On June 12, 2012, Division I of the Court of Appeals ruled on Boone's above argument as follows:

To the extent Boone argues that clarification of the scope of the (supersedeas) order is required, Boone should seek such clarification in the trial court. Similarly, Boone's argument that Drown should be paying rent to the estate rather than the court registry is more properly addressed to the trial court, which is familiar with the facts of the case and entered judgment.

See Appendix C, at 2, attached hereto. (Emphasis added.)

On September 18, 2014, Judge Uhrig, consistent with the holding and instructions provided in *Langeland I,* found that \$63,817.50 of the above funds in the possession of Helsell Fetterman belonged to Drown. CP 58-71. However, Judge Uhrig provided no remedy for Drown to collect her money from

either Boone or Helsell Fetterman. Division I, in *Langeland II*, granted the appropriate remedy of restitution.

V – ARGUMENT

1. Boone has raised no issue allowing for Review.

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court **only**:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). (Emphasis added.)

Langeland II is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals.

As support for review, Boone incorrectly argues the trial court was not an equity court.⁴ For the fourth time, Boone seeks appellate review to argue that the parties intended to maintain the

[&]quot;After discovery and an effort by Drown to have a jury trial in the probate matter . . . The trial, however, was a *probate* proceeding and had proceeded as such, *not* as property division in the context of a CIR." *Boone Petition for Review (corrected)* at 4 and 7.

separate character of their property.5

2. The character of the assets was the issue at trial.

Boone argues "it was not until the 2013 ruling in *Langeland I* that, *for the first time in the case*, the issue of whether all assets were jointly acquired was raised; only, *after* the filing of *Langeland I*, was Boone forced into a position to argue that the assets were in fact not jointly acquired." *Boone's Petition for Review (corrected)* at 7. This argument misrepresents the record. CP 906. In her Trial Brief, Drown provided the Trial Court with the following arguments and law:

Therefore, all property acquired during a meretricious relationship is presumed to be owned by both parties. This presumption can be rebutted. All property considered to be owned by both parties is before the court and is subject to a just and equitable distribution. *Connell v. Francisco*, 127 Wn.2d 339, 351, 898 P.2d 831 (1995) (citations omitted).

Id. at 907.

'The critical focus is on property that would have been characterized as community property had the parties been married. This property is properly before a trial

[&]quot;Petitioner seeks review and reversal of *Langeland II* and the trial court's remand decision because they ignore the parties' agreements Drown and and Langeland had a 19-year working **agreement to treat their earnings as separate and to maintain the separate character of the property** acquired with it . . ." *Boone Petition for Review (corrected)*, at 1 and 8. (Emphasis added.)

court and is subject to a just and equitable distribution.' *Connell v. Francisco*, 127 Wn.2d 339.

Id. at 910.

'[P]roperty acquired jointly during the relationship could be equitably divided, between the partners, even if only one partner held title.' . . . *Olver v. Fowler*, 161 Wn.2d 9 at 666.

Id. at 911.

At the beginning of the trial, Drown's belief in the joint nature of the assets was disclosed when counsel discussed the burden of proof with Judge Uhrig.

MR. SHEPHERD: As you can see from my trial brief, there is likely to be a difference of opinion on the burden of proof. It's my position that Boone has the burden of proof as regards these assets not being joint or similar to community property and, therefore, they should go first. I think opposing counsel has told me, to no surprise to me, that his position is we have the burden of proof to establish our ownership interest in the assets. I don't care who the court wants to go first. If the court determines we are to go first, I don't want the court to believe that we have the burden of proof on the issues.

THE COURT: Okay.

5/10/11 RP 4-5.

It is disingenuous for Boone to argue the joint property issue was not before the trial court prior to the $Langeland\ I$ decision.

Boone's Trial Brief discussed the need to determine if there was any joint property and whether a property agreement controlled. CP 848.

3. There was no separate property agreement.

Boone continues to incorrectly argue the joint property presumptions and equitable principals applied, by the Court of Appeals in *Langeland I,* by the trial court on remand, and by the Court of Appeals in *Langland II* to the division of probate joint property should not have been applied. Boone repeats this argument throughout her Petition.

Petitioner seeks review and reversal . . . because they ignore the parties' agreements . . .

Boone Petition for Review (corrected) at 1.

Does the evidence in this case as reflected in Findings of Fact 7-9 and 18, which includes writings and also 19 years of actions, satisfy the "direct and positive evidence" test for demonstrating a change in, or agreement on, the separate nature of the earnings and property acquired during this CIR.

Id. at 2.

Drown and Langeland had a 19-year working agreement to treat their earnings as separate and to maintain the separate character of the property acquired . . .

Id. at 8.

In this case the facts and circumstances provide the kind of 'direct and positive evidence' of . . . (a) working agreement to treat or 'convert' their only earnings during the CIR to separate property

Id. at 17.

The Langeland I court held property acquired during the CIR was presumed to be jointly owned at the time of death. Langeland, 177 Wn.App. at 319. The Langeland I court then correctly concluded "that the presumption that property acquired during a committed intimate relationship is jointly owned . . . prevail[s] over a presumption of correctness for an estate inventory." Id. at 324. The Langeland I court further held death does not convert joint property into separate property. Id. at 325. Finally, in a decision which was res judicata in both Langeland II and this petition, the Langeland I court held, as a matter of law, all three contested probate assets were joint property. Id. at 327.

Boone seeks review by asking this Court to ignore the doctrine of the law of the case.

[T]he law of the case doctrine stands for the proposition that once there is an appellate holding enunciating a principle of law, that holding will be followed in subsequent stages of the same litigation.

Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41, 123 P.2d 844 (2005).

The law of the case was correctly applied by the court in Langeland II.

As a preliminary matter, Drown contends that the law of the case doctrine bars Boone's challenges to the trial court's characterization of the contested assets as joint property. We agree. This court generally applies the law of the case doctrine to preclude successive reviews of issues that a party raised, or could have raised, in an earlier appeal in the same case. . . . The law of the case precludes her arguments about the separate property agreement and house agreement.

Matter of Estate of Langeland, 195 Wn.App. at 82-83.

4. <u>Langeland I and Langeland II correctly decided and instructed Judge Uhriq to do equity on remand.</u>

On October 29, 2010, upon motion by Boone, the trial court struck Drown's jury demand. CP 760-61. Boone's successful motion argued that: "the issues . . . are equitable in nature and there is no right of trial by jury" CP 725, 728. (Emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeals, in *Langeland I,* held that the division of property in a CIR is grounded in equity. *Langeland*, 177 Wn.App. at 329. On remand, the trial court was instructed to divide the joint property, applying equitable principles. *Id.* at 331.

Boone did cite *Langeland I*, correctly:

Even if the trial court mischaracterizes property as community or separate, this court may uphold a division of property, so long as it is fair and equitable. . . Langeland I, 177 Wn.App at 328-29.

Boone Petition for Review (corrected) at 6-7.

Without factual support, Boone argues Judge Uhrig and Division I of the Court of Appeals failed, in equity, to do equity. *Id.* at 7. Boone seeks review arguing she did not understand the issues at trial, did not understand her burden at trial, and failed to introduce imagined evidence which is now allegedly relevant; therefore, she is entitled to a second trial. Without legal authority, Boone argues that the trial court and Division I of the Court Appeals erred by not allowing a second trial on the issues of whether a separate property agreement existed and/or whether equity was done. *Id.* at 9.

As support for Review, Boone relies on Washington cases, which cases are supportive of *Langeland I and II:* including, *Peffely-Warner v. Bowen,* 113 Wn.2d 243, 778 P.2d 1022 (1989) and *Olver v. Fowler,* 161 Wn.2d 655, 168 P.3d 348 (2007). The decisions in *Langeland I* and *Langeland II,* required the trial court

to divide the joint probate property fairly. On remand, the trial court divided the joint probate property fairly. *Langeland II* affirmed the award as fair and equitable and provided a remedy, as allowed under Washington law, for Drown to recover her money from Boone and Boone's attorneys.

In doing so, the decisions of *Langeland I* and *II*, are consistent with *Peffely-Warner* and *Olver*. "The division of property following termination of an unmarried cohabiting relationship **is based on equity** . . . and not on inheritance." *Peffely-Warner*, 113 Wn.2d at 253. (Emphasis added.) "We hold that when a committed intimate relationship is terminated by the death of both parties, the couple's joint acquired property can be **equitably divided** between the partner's estates." *Olver*, 161 Wn.2d at 672. (Emphasis added.)

5. Findings of Fact 6, 7, 8, 9 and 18 were not ignored by Drown in Langeland I, and as they no longer exist in the Amended Findings, they are clearly vacated.

Boone argues in her Petition as follows: "Findings of fact 6-9 & 18 cited *supra* have not been challenged or vacated for lack of

substantial evidence."⁶ Boone's Petition for Review (corrected) at 18. This is factually and legally wrong. Drown, in Langeland I, did challenge Findings of Fact 6, 7, 8, 9 and 18. Drown's Opening Brief in Langeland I, Appendix D at 5-6.

Findings of Fact 6, 7, 8, 9, and 18 no longer exist as they were vacated. They were replaced by Amended Findings of Fact 6, 7, 8, 9 and 18, which Boone did not appeal in *Langeland II.* CP 1693-94. Boone knows this and yet argues they still exist as factual findings. CP 1712.

6. There is no substantial public interest in Boone's continued argument regarding how to achieve equity in this case.

Boone and Helsell Fetterman's mischaracterization of the facts in this case do not create an issue of substantial public interest. Review should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The undersigned could not find a decision of this Court where it was held that review of a trial court's exercise of equity was a matter of

⁶ "6. Decedent and Sharon Drown shared equally in all household expenses.

^{7.} Decedent and Sharon Drown maintained separate bank accounts at all times.

^{8.} Decedent and Sharon Drown did not commingle assets . . .

^{9.} Decedent and Sharon Drown maintained the separate character of all property except property which was intentionally purchased jointly 18. The parties received their earnings in their own name; they scrupulously deposited their own earnings into their own accounts . . . " CP 1289-1290.

substantial public interest. Perhaps that is why Boone advances this argument without citing any legal authority. The remedy, provided by Court Rule and the Court of Appeals in *Langeland II*, for which Boone requests review, does not involve an issue of "widespread public interest," does not involve persons or entities in the "public eye" and does not have the potential to affect members of the public who did not directly participate in the conduct. *Alaska Structures, Inc. v. Hedlund*, 180 Wn.App. 591, 600, 323 P.3d 1082 (Div. 1, 2014); *rev. denied* 184 Wn.2d 1026 (2016).

7. Helsell Fetterman's conditional review should also be denied.

Helsell Fetterman, a non-party, requests conditional review because of the alleged impact of the decision on their professional reputation. The Petition is filed without any legal authority. Drown would be surprised and disappointed, if the Washington state supreme court would accept review of this matter because of the alleged impact of a decision on the professional reputation of the attorney for a party. The professional reputation of counsel who seeks to keep money belonging to another is not a matter of substantial public interest. An individual attorney's professional

reputation is at all times a personal matter, sustained by one's conduct. Any substantial public policy in this matter lies squarely with Drown, who does not seek review.

VI – REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY FEES AND EXPENSES

Attorney fees were awarded in Langeland II.

If attorney fees and expenses are awarded to the party who prevailed in the Court of Appeals, and if a petition for review to the Supreme Court is subsequently denied, reasonable attorney fees and expenses may be awarded for the prevailing party's preparation and filing of the timely answer to the petition for review.

RAP 18.1(j). Helsell Fetterman and Boone have lost. Drown respectfully requests this Court award reasonable attorney fees and expenses for the preparation and filing of this Answer to the Petitions for Review pursuant to RCW 11.96A.150, RAP 18.1(j), and RAP 18.9.

(1) Either the superior court or any court on an appeal may, in its discretion, order costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, to be awarded to any party: (a) From any party to the proceedings; (b) from the assets of the estate or trust involved in the proceedings; or (c) from any nonprobate asset that is the subject of the proceedings. The court may order the costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, to be paid in such amount and in such manner as the court determines to be equitable. In exercising its discretion under this section, the court may consider any and all factors that it deems to be relevant and appropriate, which factors may but

need not include whether the litigation benefits the estate or trust involved.

RCW 11.96A.150(1). RCW 11.96A.150(1) provides this Court with broad discretion to award attorney fees. *In re Estate of Frank,* 146 Wn.App. 309, 327, 189 P.3d 834 (Div. 2, 2008).

VII - CONCLUSION

The second appeal is an attempt by Boone and her counsel to wrongfully keep money belonging to Drown based upon a mistake made by the Whatcom County Superior Court Clerk, which mistake both Boone and her counsel kept quiet during *Langeland I*. Neither the losing side nor her attorney, in equity, is allowed to retain the benefits of a trial court decision reversed on appeal. Drown respectfully requests that Boone's Petition for Review and Helsell Fetterman's "Conditional" Review be denied, and Drown be awarded her reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred.

Respectfully submitted this 10th day of November 2016.

SHEPHERD AND ALLEN

Douglas R. Shepherd, WSBA #9514 Bethany C. Allen, WSBA #41180 2011 Young Street, Suite 202

Bellingham, WA 98225

(360) 733-3773